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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

Im. 185 Chapter 11 Cases
TELEXFREE, LLC, 14-40987-MSH
TELEXFREE, INC. and 14-40988-MSH
TELEXFREE FINANCIAL, INC,, 14-40989-MSH
Debtors. Jointly Administered

STEPHEN B. DARR AS HE IS TRUSTEE OF
THE CHAPTER 11 ESTATES OF
TELEXFREE, LLC,

TELEXFREE, INC. and Adversary Proceeding
TELEXFREE FINANCIAL, INC,, No.16-4032
Plaintiff,

V.

CARLOS WANZELER, ET AL,
Defendant(s).

STEPHEN B. DARR AS HE IS TRUSTEE OF
THE CHAPTER 11 ESTATES OF
TELEXFREE, LLC,

TELEXFREE, INC. and Adversary Proceeding
TELEXFREE FINANCIAL, INC., No.16-4006
Plaintift,

V.

BENJAMIN ARGUETA, ET AL
Defendant(s).

MOTION BY TRUSTEE TO APPROVE STIPULATION OF SETTLEMENT AMONG
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, CHAPTER 11 TRUSTEE
AND FABIO WANZELER AND CLAUDIA WANZELER

Stephen Darr, the duly appointed Chapter 11 Trustee (the “Chapter 11 Trustee”) of

TelexFree, LLC, TelexFree, Inc. and TelexFree Financial, Inc. (“TelexFree” or the “Debtors”),
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respectfully requests that the Court approve the stipulation (“Stipulation”) attached hereto by and
among the United States of America (“United States™), the Chapter 11 Trustee and Fabio
Wanzeler (“Fabio”) and his wife Claudia Wanzeler (“Claudia” and, collectively, the
“Wanzelers”), pursuant to Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 9019. The Stipulation is
anticipated to generate a substantial recovery for the TelexFree estates, will resolve disputes with
respect to assets subject to forfeiture proceedings commenced by the United States, and will
settle estate claims against substantial participants in the TelexFree scheme. In support of this

motion, the Chapter 11 Trustee states as follows:

BACKGROUND

1. On April 13, 2014 (the “Petition Date”), the Debtors filed voluntary Chapter 11
petitions with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Nevada.

2. By order dated May 6, 2014, the Nevada Bankruptcy Court approved a motion to
change venue filed by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The cases were
transferred to this Court on May 9, 2014.

3 On May 30, 2014, the Court approved the motion of the Office of the United
States Trustee to appoint a trustee, and the Chapter 11 Trustee was appointed on June 6, 2014.

4. The Debtors ostensibly operated a “multi-level marketing” company with its
headquarters in Marlborough, Massachusetts. It represented itself as being in the business of
selling telephone service plans that use “voice over internet protocol” (“VoIP”) technology. The
sale of VoIP, however, constituted only a minor portion of their business; the Debtors’ actual
business was the recruitment of participants (“Participants”). The Debtors operated a massive
Ponzi and pyramid scheme which involved upwards of a million Participants from multiple

countries.
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5. On November 25, 2015, the Court, on motion by the Chapter 11 Trustee and after
notice, entered an Order, as amended on December 21, 2015, finding that the Debtors were
engaged in a Ponzi scheme and that this ruling was the law of the case in each of the jointly
administered cases.

6. On January 26, 2016, the Court entered an order approving a process for the
determination of Participant claims based upon their involvement in the TelexFree scheme. The
order approved the use of the “Net Equity” formula in determining a Participant’s claim against
the estates. Specifically, in determining whether a Participant was a Net Winner or Net Loser,
the Court would consider amounts invested by a Participant, including amounts invested
pursuant to Triangular Transactions,' less amounts received by the Participant from involvement
in the scheme, including amounts received through Triangular Transactions.

I. The Wanzelers’ Involvement in TelexFree

7. The Wanzelers were promoters of TelexFree. According to the Debtors’ records
of Participant activity that was reconstructed by the Chapter 11 Trustee, Fabio was a Net Winner
in the aggregate amount of $633,578 on account of both direct transactions with TelexFree and
Triangular Transactions. Claudia was a net loser in the amount of approximately $7,000.

1L. Trustee Litigation

8. Fabio is the subject of two separate actions brought by the Chapter 11 Trustee (the

“Adversary Proceedings”).

! “Triangular Transactions” refer generally to transactions where a Participant purchased a TelexKree
membership plan or phone package from the Debtors and paid the associated fee to the recruiting
Participant, rather than directly to the Debtors, and the recruiting Participant satisfied the new recruit’s
invoice through the application of accumulated credits “earned” from involvement in the TelexFree
program.

3
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S Fabio is an unnamed defendant in the domestic class action suit, adversary
proceeding number 16-4006, in which the Chapter 11 Trustee seeks the recovery of fraudulent and
preferential transfers from all Net Winners located within the United States (the “Domestic Class
Action”). The defendant class has been certified and class counsel has been retained.

10.  Fabio is one of many named defendants in adversary proceeding number 16-4032
(the “4032 Action”), which seeks recovery from Fabio for fraudulent transfers and related claims in
furtherance of the TelexFree scheme. This action had been stayed because of the pendency of the
criminal proceedings against the Debtors’ principals.

III. District Court Litigation

11.  On September 8, 2016, a federal grand jury sitting in the District of Massachusetts
returned a seventeen-count First Superseding Indictment charging James Metrill and Carlos
Wanzeler, with Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349 (Count
One); Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Counts Two through Nine); and Engaging in
Monetary Transactions in Property Derived from Specified Unlawful Activity, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1957(a) and 2 (Counts Ten through Seventeen).

12.  The First Superseding Indictment contained a Forfeiture Allegation, which gave
notice that the United States sought forfeiture, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c), upon conviction of one or more of the offenses charged in Counts One through Nine of
the First Superseding Indictment, of any property, real or personal, that constitutes, or is derived
from, proceeds traceable to the commission of the offenses.

13.  In addition, the First Superseding Indictment contained a Money Laundering
Forfeiture Allegation, which gave notice that the United States sought forfeiture, pursuant to 18

U.S.C. § 982(a)(1), upon conviction of one or more of the offenses alleged in Counts Ten

4
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through Seventeen of the First Superseding Indictment, of any property, real or personal,
involved in the offenses, and any property traceable to such property.

14. On October 24, 2016, at a hearing pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of
Criminal Procedure, defendant James Merrill (“Merrill”) pled guilty to Counts One through Nine
of the First Superseding Indictment, pursuant to a written plea agreement signed by Merrill on
October 24, 2016.2

19- In Section 8 of the written plea agreement, Merrill agreed to the forfeiture of the
assets listed in Exhibit A to the plea agreement, which included the following two real
properties:

a. the real property located at 4506 San Mellina Drive, Coconut Creek, Florida (the
“San Mellina Drive Property”);

b. the real property located at 10556 Cape Delabra Ct, Boynton Beach, Florida (the
“Cape Delabra Property” and, together with the San Mellina Drive Properties, the
“Florida Properties™);

16. Merrill admitted that the assets listed in Exhibit A to the plea agreement,
including the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property, are subject to
forfeiture on the grounds that they are propetty, real or personal, that constituted, or were derived
from, proceeds traceable to the commission of the offenses charged in Counts One through Nine
of the First Superseding Indictment, and Merrill consented to the entry of an order of forfeiture
against such property.

17. On March 21, 2017, the United States filed an Assented-To Motion for Preliminary
Order of Forfeiture in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts (the

“District Court”) seeking forfeiture of numerous assets, including the San Mellina Drive Property

2 The United States agreed to dismiss Counts Ten through Seventeen of the First Superseding

Indictment following the Court’s imposition of Merrill’s sentence.
5
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and the Cape Delabra Property. On March 22, 2017, the District Court granted the Motion for
Preliminary Order of Forfeiture. Upon entry of a final order of forfeiture, ownership of the Florida
Properties would vest in the United States.

18. On March 22, 2017, the District Court sentenced Merrill to 72 months
imprisonment and three years’ supervised release.

19. On July 11, 2017, the District Court entered a Restitution Order against Merrill,
which provided that based Lipon the complexity and volume of restitution payments to victims in
this case, the Chapter 11 Trustee shall administer and pay restitution to Participants holding

allowed claims (the “Restitution Order”).

20.  Notice of the Preliminary Order of Forfeiture was sent to all interested parties and

published on the government website www.forfeiture.gov for thirty (30) consecutive calendar

days, beginning on May 16, 2017, and ending on June 14, 2017, and also beginning on June 16,
2017, and ending on July 15, 2017.

21.  OnlJuly 25,2017, Fabio filed verified claims asserting an interest in the San
Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property. No other party has filed a petition
claiming an interest in the San Mellina Drive Property or the Cape Delabra Property, and the
time within which to do so has expired.

22. The United States, the Chapter 11 Trustee, and the Wanzelers have entered into
negotiations to resolve issues respecting the competing claims in the Florida Properties and the

disposition of any proceeds from the sale or refinance of such properties. As a result of such
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negotiations, the parties have entered into the attached Stipulation, which provides in substance as
follows:>
Settlement
23 Upon execution by the Parties, the Stipulation shall be filed with the District
Court. The District Court and the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to enforce the
provisions of the Stipulation.
24. Upon execution of the Stipulation, the United States shall file an assented-to
motion to modify the restraining order entered against the San Mellina Drive Property and the
Cape Delabra Property to allow the following:

a. The Wanzelers shall execute a deed transferring ownership of the San Mellina
Drive Property to the Chapter 11 Trustee; and

b. The Wanzelers shall obtain a mortgage against the Cape Delabra Property for a
net payment in the amount of $250,000, which funds shall be paid to the Chapter
11 Trustee, in lieu of forfeiture of the Cape Delabra Property.

25, The United States shall also execute a release of the lis pendens against the Cape
Delabra Property and shall provide the original of the release of lis pendens to Fabio and Claudia
Wangzeler at the closing of any mortgage against the Cape Delabra Property.

26. Upon modification of the Restraining Order, the Chapter 11 Trustee shall file the
within motion. The District Court entered an order modifying the Restraining Order on
November 2, 2018 [docket entry 412, District Court criminal no. 14-40028-TSH].

27. If the Bankruptcy Court denies this motion, the Stipulation shall be null and void.

28. If the Bankruptcy Court approves this motion, then within 30 days after the date

of the Bankruptcy Court’s order granting the motion, Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler shall:

3 To the extent of any inconsistencies between the Stipulation and this motion, the terms of the Stipulation
attached as Exhibit A shall govern.
7
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